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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

GERJUAN TYUS
Plaintiff, No. 3:13€v-1486 (SRU)

V.

ROGER NEWTONet al,
Defendants.

RULING ON FEDERAL DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS

Gerjuan Tyuss currently incarcerated at Northernr@mtional Institution in Somers,
Connecticut. In October 2013, in both this Court and the Connecticut Superior Court for the
Judicial District of New London, the plaintiff filed a civil rights action againsedeants City of
New London, County of New lralon, City of New London Police Department, Chief of New
London Police Department Margaret Ackley, Lieutenants Brian Wright and Tode &,
Sergeants Christina and Kevin McBride, Officers Roger Newton, Todd Lynch, Kglins
Timothy Henderson, Liachenkblarcaccio, Pelchat, Melissa Schafranski, Darrin Omara,
Lamontagne and Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (“ATF”) Agents Wheedst
Riordan, Robert Harrison, Dennis Turman and Guy Thomas. On November 19, 2013, the
Superior Courtlefendantsemoved tle state court action to thisurt. (See Tyus v. City of New
London, et al.3:13¢v-1726 (SRU), Pet. Removal, Doc. No. 1).

On January 6, 2014, the present caas consolidatedith the action that had been
removed to this Court by the defendaiguys v. City of New London, et,8:13€v-1726
(SRU).The present case is the lead casel the member casByus v. City of New London, et
al., 3:13¢v-1726(SRU), has been closed.

On April 29, 2014, the cougranted the plaintiff leave to file an anded complaint,
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denied without prejudice the motion to dismiss filed by the New London defendants, and
dismissed the Sixth Amendment claims in Cduritthe Amended Complaint and the
conspiracy claims contained in Count V of the Amended Compdansuanto 28 U.S.C. §
1915A(b)(1). Thus, all claims in Count | and the conspiracy claims in Count V of the Amended
Complaint have been dismissed. The remaining federal claims under the Fourtanéift
Fourteenth Amendments and state law tort and constitlittaims as set forth in Counts I,
(@), Hi(b), IV, V, VI, VII, VIII, 1X, X, Xl and XII * remain pending against the ATF
defendants and the New London defendants in their individual and official capacities

In June 2014, the New London defendants rddeedismiss some claims against them.
On March 31, 2015, the court granted in part and denied in part the motion to dismiss filed by

the New London defendants.

! There are two counts labeled Count Iil, two counts labeled Count IX and two counts
labeled Count XThis ruling will refer tothe first Count Il as Count Ill(a) and thec®nd Count
[l as Count llI(b), and will refer téthe second Count IX as Count XI and the second Count X as
Count XII. (SeeAm. Compl. at 21-22, 25-27).

% The motion to dismiswas granteavith respecto all claims against defendants Zelinski
and Liachenko, all federal claims against defendant Ackley in her individual f&cidl of
capacities, the claim that defendants Officers Newton, Lynch, Pelchatancdddidfalsely
arrested the plaintiff on March 3, 2011, the claims under Article I, sections 7 anded of
Connecticut Constitution against defendants Ackley and the City of New Loaddthe state
law claims of negligence and intentionatlaregligent infliction of emotional distress amader
Article 1, section 10 of the Connecticut Constitution against all defendants. Trenrtoot
dismisswas deniedn all other respects.

With regard to the New London defendants, the case proedthd®specto the Fourth
Amendment search and seizure and excessive force claims, the Fourteenth Amendalent
protection claim and the state law claims of assault and battery against defédght,
Bergeson, Christina, McBride, Lynch, Henderson, Mancadelchat, Melissa Schafranski,
Omara and Lamontagne in their individual and official capacities, the ConneatigstitGtional
Claims under Article I, sections 7 and 9 against defendants Wright, Berges@tin@hri
McBride, Lynch, Henderson, Marcaccio, Pelchat, Melissa Schafranski, Omakamodtagne
in their individual capacities and the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment claims duyaiQgyt
of New London.



The ATF defendants have moved to dismiss the claims against them pursuant to Rule
12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6). For the reasons set forth below, the motion is granted.

l. Standard of Review

A federal court must ensure the presence of subject matter jurisdiction eshelkthr
matter before proceeding to the merits of a c&@ee, e.gWynn v. AC Rodster 273 F.3d 153,
157 (2d Cir. 2001). The plaintiff bears the burden of proving, by a preponderance of evidence,
that the court has subject matter jurisdicti®ae Makarova v. United Stat@®1 F.3d 110, 113
(2d Cir. 2000).

In reviewing aRule12(b)1) motion to dismissthe court takes the “facts alleged in the
complaint as true and draws all reasonable inferences in favor of the plaiditti‘al
Resources Defense Council v. Johngi§ii F.3d 164, 171 (2d Cir. 2006) (citation and internal
guotation marks omitted). When the existence of subject matter jurisdictionlengfeal, the
court may properly consider evidence outside of the pleadings submitted on this issue t
determine whether subject matter jurisdiction exiSee State Employees Bargaining Agent
Coalition v. Rowlang494 F.3d 71, 77 n.4 (2d Cir. 2007).

When deciding a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which reliefenay b
granted under Rule 12(b)(@he court accepts as true all factual allegations in the carhpladl
draws inferences from tke allegations in the light most favorable to the plairiffe Scheuer v.
Rhodes416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974&]ores v. Southern Peru Copper Carp43 F.3d 140, 143 (2d
Cir. 2003).The court’s review is limited to “the factdeded in the pleadings, documents
attached as exhibits or incorporated by reference in the pleadings and niattachqudicial

notice may be takehSamuels v. Air Transport Local 50892 F.2d 12, 15 (2d Cir. 1993)he



court considers not whether tplaintiff ultimately will prevail, but whether he has asserted
sufficient facts to entitle him to offer evidence to support his cl8ee. York v. Association of
theBar ofthe City of New York286 F.3d 122, 125 (2d Cir. 2002).

In reviewing the complat in response to a motion to dismiss, the court applies “a
‘plausibility standard,’” which is guided by two working principleashcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S.
662, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (200Bist, the requirement that the court accept as true the
allegatons in the complaint “is inapplicable to legal conclusions,” and ‘[t|hreadbaitalseof
the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements, dcedt suf
Harris v. Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 72 (2d Cir. 2009) (quotilagpal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949). Second, to
survive a motion to dismiss, the complaint must state a plausible claim for Detiefmining
whether the complaint states a plausible claim for relief is “‘a cosietific task that requires
the reviewing court to draw otsijudicial experience and common senskl.’(quotinglgbal,
129 S. Ct. at 1950). Even under this standard, however, the court liberally congtroiss a
complaint.See Erickson v. ParduS51 U.S. 89, 94 (2007) (“A document filpdb seis to be
liberally construed and jpro secomplaint, however inartfully pleaded, must be held to less
stringent standards than formal pleadings drafted by lawyepef)c(rian) (internal quotation
marks and citations omitted).

. Facts

The court accepts as true flolowing allegations taken from the Amended Complaint as
they relate to the defendants identified as ATF Agents Wheeler, Scott Riootst Rarrison,
Dennis Turman and Guy Thomas.

In November 2009, unidentified individuals arrestgdson federal criminal charges,



including conspiracy and possession and distribution of narcdtiasbelieves that the arrest
resulted from a joint investigation conducted by officers of the New London Pi#jgartment
and ATF Agents Riordan and Wheeler. On October 6, 2010, a jury in this Court acquitted the
Tyusof all federal criminal charges in connection with his November 2009 dpesttinited
States v. Muller, et gl13:09<r-247 (RNC) (Judgment of Acquittal after Jury Trial, Doc. No.
494).

WhenTyus eturnedo the City of New London, officers within the City of New London
Police Department began to follow him on a regular basiscers pulledTyusover on January
18, 2011 and on January 22, 2011 and charged him with several traffic violations, but did not
arrest him.On February 5, 2011, New London Police officers pulled Tyus over, searched him,
arrested him on charges of possession of a dangerous weapon and transported him to the New
London police station. At the station, a body cavity search of the filailigedly revealed
multiple plastic bags of narcotiddew London officers also charged Tyus with possession of
narcotics Officers subsequently releaskn on bond.

Based oTyuss February 5, 2011 arrest, ATF Agents Riordan, Wheeler, Turman and
Thomas sought a warrant for his arrest on federal drug possession charges. ©8,N8add
New London Police officers stopp@guss vehicle because there was an outstanding federal
warrant for his arresOfficer Newton askedyusto exit the vehicle because he said that he
smelled the odor of marijuana in the dauring a patsearch Officer Newton removed cash and
a knife fromTyus arrestechim pursuant to the outstanding federal arrest warrant as well as on a
state charge of possession of a dangerous weapon, and then transported him to the New London

Police station.



On March 4, 2011, ATF Agents Riordan and Wheeler transpdytesito federal court
for a hearing on the drug possession chéwgerhich he was arrested on March 3, 20Qm.

March 10, 2011a federal grand jury indicteldyus on one count of possession of narcotics with
intent to distribute in violation of federal criminal statutes 21 U.S.C. 88 841(a)(1) and
(b)(1)(B)(iii). SeeUnited States. Tyus 3:11¢r-45 (EBB) (Doc. No. 9). On April 8, 201Tyus
pleaded not guilty to the charge at his arraignment befordtad StatedMagistrateJudge See

id. at (Doc. No. 16).

On February 17, 2012, the United States moved to dismiss the federal criminal charges
againstTyusafter they became awatteat on a prior occasion one of the arresting New London
Police officers had been identified as having planted drugs on a suspect duriresb8eerd.
at (Doc. No. 71). On February 21, 2012, the Cgraihted the motion to dismig§ee idat Doc.
No. 72.

On September 17, 201Pyus pleaded guilty to one count of carrying a dangerous
weapon in connection with his arrest by New London Police officers on March 3,2011.
Superior Court Judge sentenced the plaintiff to three years of imprisorBee@obnnecticut v.
Tyus Docket No. KIOKER11:0312202-S (Conn. Super. Ct. Sept. 17, 2612).

II. Discussion

The ATF defendants assert that the claims against them should either be dismisse

pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1) or Rule 12(b)()Xhe Federal Rules @ivil ProcedureBecause

defendants Harrison, Wheeler, Riordan, Turman and Thomas are federal empleeyeeart

% Information regarding this criminal case may be found at:
http://www.jud.ct.gov/crim.htm by searching criminal convictions by defendant tineléast
name of Tyus and first initial G.



construes the action as having been filed against them pursignets v. Six Unknown Named
Agents of Fed. Bureau of Narcotiekd3 U.S. 388 (1971) Bivens). In Bivens the Supreme
Court held that federal officials may be sued for damages in their indivicaeditias for the
violations of a person’s constitutional rights. ThuBj\ensaction is the nonstatutory federal
counterpart of a civil rights action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988 Ellis v. Blunm643 F.2d 68,
84 (2d Cir. 1981).

A. Subject Matter Jurisdiction

The ATF defendants argue that the claims for monetary damages against theim in t
official capacities, the claims forjunctive and declaratory reliednd the state law claims must
be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdictibyus does not addressatargument.

1. Official Capacity Claims for Money Damages

Tyusseeks monetary damages from defendants Whéakmdan, Turman and Thomas
in their individual and official capacitied. lawsuit against a federal official in his official
capacity or a federal agency in its official capacity is considered a laagmuitst the United
StatesSee Robinson v. Overseas Military Sales C@pF.3d 502, 509-10 (2d Cir. 1994he
doctrine of sovereign immunity protects the United States from suit absent c@eseRDIC v.
Meyer, 510 U.S. 471, 475 (1994Because an action against a federal agency or federal officials
in their official capacities is essentially a suit against the United States, sudrsualso barred
under the doctrine of sovereign immunity, unless such immunity is waiRetihson21 F.3d
at 510 (citations omittedY.hus, “[t]he waiver of sovergn immunity is a prerequisite to subject
matter jurisdiction.’Presidential Gardens Assocs. v. United States ex. rel. Secretary of Housing

and Urban Dev.175 F.3d 132, 139 (2d Cir. 1999).



Any waiver of sovereign immunity must be “unequivocally expressed” achotebe
implied. United States v. Testafh24 U.S. 392, 399 (197@ecausdyushas not asserted any
claims for which the United States has waived sovereign immunity against thded@ndants
in their official capacities, the motion to dismisgranted with respetd all claims for
monetary damages against defendants Wheeler, Riordan, Turman and Thomas ifictakir of
capacities on the ground that the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over thoseSte
Corr. Serv. Corp. v. Malesk®34 U.S. 61, 71-72 (2001Bifzensclaim may be brought against
an“offending individual officer” in his or her individual capacity, but not against the &uoé
Prisons, the United States, or the individual officer in his or her official cgdacinoney
damages).

2. Declaratory and Injunctive Relief

Tyusseeks a declaration that tA&F defendants violated his federal rights as well as his
rights under state lavin addition, Tyus seeks injunctive relief in the form of an order prohibiting
the ATF defendants, their subordinates, their agenés; employees, their successors in office
and all other individuals who might act together with the defendants, from punishing or
harassing him or engaging in retaliatory action against ima.ATF defendants argue that
neither injunctive nor declaratory relief may be awarded by the couBiveasaction.

The Second Circuit has held that “[tjhe only remedy availableBivensAction is an
award for monetary damages from the defendants in their dudivcapacities.Higazy v.
Templeton505 F.3d 161, 169 (2d Cir. 2007) (citiRglanco v. U.S. Drug Enforcement Admin.
158 F.3d 647, 652 (2d Cir. 1998Because Tyumay only recover monetary damages in a

Bivensaction, the motion to dismiss the claifos injunctive and declaratory relief is granted.



3. State Law Claims
Tyusclaims that the ATF defendants were grossly negligent and subjected him to
emotional distresS he plaintiff also mentions the tort of falseest and violations of Article |,
88 9 and 10 of the Connecticut Constitutibhe ATF defendants argue that any state law tort
claim or state constitutional claim based on their acts or omissions may only gbtlkagainst
the United States under the Federal Tort Claims Act.
The Federal Tort Claims Act (“FTCA”) “waives the sovereign immunity of duefal
government for claims based on the negligence of its employ@eslthurst v. United States
214 F.3d 106, 108 (2d Cir. 200@pecifically, the Federal Tort Claims Act authorizesssuit
against the government to recover damages
for injury or loss of property, or personal injury or death caused by
the negligent or wrongful act or omission of any employee of the
Government while acting within the scope of his office or
employment, undenmcumstances where the United States, if a
private person, would be liable to the claimant in accordance with
the law of the place where the act or omission occurred.

28 U.S.C. § 1346(b)(2).

The United States is the only proper party in a suit seeking monetary daorapets f
committed by federal employee€®ee28 U.S.C. 88 1346(b)(1) and 26’ Mignogna v. Sair
Aviation, Inc, 937 F.2d 37, 40 (2d Cir. 1991) (stating that an action under the FTCA “must be
brought against the United States rather than an agency the@®f’{;hem. Co., Inc. v. United
States 810 F.2d 34, 37 n.1 (2d Cir. 1987) (“[O]nly the United States may be held liable for torts
committed by a federal agency, and not the agency its&¥én if the court were to treat the

FTCA claimas having been brought against the United States, it would faFTEA claim

against the United States may not be asserted in the United States District (@sgrthen
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plaintiff has first exhausted his or her administrative reme8ijescifically, theFTCA provides
that:

An action shall not be instituted upon a claim against the United

States for money damages for injury or loss of property or personal

injury or death caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission

of any employee of the Governmanitile acting within the scope

of his office or employment, unless the claimant shall have first

presented the claim to the appropriate Federal agency and his claim

shall have been finally denied by the agency in writing and sent by

certified or registerethail. The failure of an agency to make final

disposition of a claim within six months after it is filed shall, at the

option of the claimant at any time thereafter, be deemed a final

denial of the claim for purposes of this section.
28 U.S.C. § 2675(aYhus, failure to file a claim for damages with the appropriate agency
precludes the district court from exercising jurisdiction over such a chkamKeene Corp.
United States700 F.2d 836, 841 (2d Cir. 1983).

The FTCA also includes limitations periods for filing a claim and for filing aslain
federal courtAn FTCA claim is timebarred unless a claimant presents the claim in writing to
the appropriate Federal agency within two years after the claim acBae28 U.S.C. §
2401(b).Any lawsuitin federal court asserting an FTCA claim must be commenced within six
months of either the final agency denial of the claim or the expiration of six morghthaft
presentation of the claim, whichever comes fifstlure to timely and completely exhaus
administrative remedies prior to filing a complaint operates as a jurisdictianal papceeding
in federal courtSeeMcNeil v. United State$08 U.S. 106, 111-13 (1993) (“FTCA bars
claimants from bringing suit in federal court until they have exhausted theiriattatine

remedies”).

There are no allegations to suggest Thatshas exhausted any FTCA claim prior to

10



filing this action.Accordingly, lecause the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the
plaintiff's state law claims, the motido dismiss is grantedith respecto all state law claims
against the ATF defendants.

B. Failure to State a Claim Upon Which Relief May Be Granted

The ATF defendantargue thafyushas failed to set forth allegations to: (1) state a claim
that Agents Turman, Thomas, Riordan/dneelerviolated his due process rights under the
Fourteenth Amendment and (2) to state a claim that Agents Turman, Thomas, Riordan or
Wheelerviolated his rights under the Fourth Amendment. In addition, the defendants argue that
they are entitled to qualified immunityyushas not addressed these arguments.

1. Defendant Robert Harrison

Robert Harrison is identified by the plaintiff as an ATF Agétd.is not otherwise
mentioned in the Amended ComplaiRurthermore, he has neuseen served with a copy of the
Amended Complairi.

Becausdyusdoes not include any facts in the Amended Complaint pertaining to
defendant Harrison, he has not alleged that he violated his federally or cmmstityprotected
rights. Thus, the claimagainst defendant Harrison are dismisS=£28 U.S.C. §
1915(e)(2)(B)(ii) (court may dismiss “at any time” a claim on which relief n@tybe granted).

2. Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Claim

Tyusclaims that the ATF defendants violated his substantive due process rights when

they deprived him of his liberty by falsely arresting hirhe allegations set forth in support of

the Fourteenth Amendment claim are duplicative of those forming the basiasiéfalse arrest

* Counsel for defendants has informed the court that no person by the name of Robert
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claim under the Fourth Amendment. Thus, no general substantive due process clailabkeavai
to the plaintiff.See Bryant v. City of New YoAO4 F.3d 128, 135 (2d Cir. 2005) (f@ Supreme
Court has repeatedly held, that where a particular Amendment provides art exylicl soure
of constitutional protection against particular sort of government behavior, tetdiment, not
the more generalized notion of substantive due process, must be the guide for quttadygan
claims.”) (quotingAlbright v. Oliver 510 U.S. 266, 275 (1994), adaham v. Connqr490
U.S. 386, 395 (1989)Rinter v. City of New Yorl76 F. Supp. 2d 539, 573 (S.D.N.Y. 2013)
(“There is no cause of action for false arrest or unlawful stop under the Due RCtaess of
the Fourteenth Amendment.”) (citationsitted); Ambrose v. City of New Yor&23 F. Supp. 2d
454, 474 n.9 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (“Plaintiff’s allegation[] of false arrest . . . statesna cldy
under the Fourth Amendment, and not under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment.”) (citation omitted)'he motion to dismiss the Fourteenth Amendment substantive
due process claim is granted.
3. Fourteenth Amendment Equal Protection Claim

Tyusgenerally asserts that the ATF defendants deprived him of his right teebedm
unlawful seizures “under the equal protection of the law.” Am. Compl. at 24. The Equal
Protection Clause protects prisoners from “invidious racial discriminat®ee”Overton v.
Bazzetta539 U.S. 126 (2003) (citinigee v. Washingtqr390 U.S. 333 (1968)J.he Supreme
Court has recognized that “[the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Agr@ndm
commands that no State shall ‘deny to any person within its jurisdiction the eqeatiproof

the laws,” which is essentially a direction that all persons similarlytedushould be treated

Harrison is employed by the ATFS¢eMot. Dismiss at 1, n.1).
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alike.” City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Centdi73 U.S. 432, 439 (1985) (quotiRdyler v.
Doe 457 U.S. 202, 216 (1982)). To prevail on an equal protection claim of racial discrimination,
aplaintiff must show that he was treated differently from other similarly situatidduals as a
result of intentional or purposeful discrimination based on his & LaBounty v. Adle®33
F.2d 121, 123 (2d Cir. 1991). To state a violation of the Equal Protection Clause under the “class
of one” theory, a plaintiff must allege (1) that he has been intentionallgdrdédterently from
others similarly situated, and (2) that there is no rational basis for the tntc®®e Village of
Willowbrook v. Olech528 U.S. 562, 564 (2000).

There are no allegationbat the ATF defendants treated Tyligerently becausef his
race.In fact, Tyusdoes not mention his race in the Amended Complgunrthermorehe has not
alleged that he was treated differently than other similarly situateddndis. ThusTyushas
failed to allege facts to support a plausible equal protection claim against fheéefdndants.
The equal protection claim is dismiss&&e28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(B)(ii) .

4. Fourth Amendment False Arrest and Malicious Proseation Claims

Tyusalleges that ATF Agents Riordan, Wheeler, Turman and Thomas sought a
warrant for his arrest on federal drug possession charges and filed a locconipdaint against
him in federal courtThe defendants argue that the false arrest andioa prosecution claims
fail to state a claim becau3guss arrest was made pursuant to a warrant issued by a federal
magistrate judge.

The Fourth Amendment provides that “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their
persons . . . against unreasolessearches and seizsrghall not be violated. . . .” U.S. Const.

Amend. IV.Bivensclaims for false arrest and malicious prosecution are based on the Fourth

13



Amendment’s right to be free from unreasonable seizures, including artestityprobable
causeClaims for false arrest and malicious prosecution, whether brought under section 1983,
pursuant tdivens or under state law, are assessed under the laws of the state in which the
plaintiff was dlegedly illegally arrestedr maliciously prosecute&ee Davis v. Rodrigue264
F. 3d 424, 433 (2d Cir. 2004) (“In analyzing 1983 claims for unconstitutional false arrest, we
have generally looked to the law of the state in which the arrest occurredn ¢ases)El
Badrawi v. Dep’t of Homeland Se&.79 F. Supp. 2d 249, 269 (D. Conn. 2008) (“The elements
of false arrest/false imprisonment under Connecticut law are essefhigfigie elements
needed to articulate a Fourth Amendment violation.”) (citations omied)s v. Lhited States
430 F. Supp. 2d 67, 79, 80 (D. Conn. 2006) (false arrest and malicious prosecution claims filed
“pursuant to 8§ 1983 divensare governed by state substantive law”) (citation omitted).

It is well-established that the existence of probable cause is a complete defelagag
of false imprisonment, false arreahd malicious prosecution under both federal and Connecticut
law. See Williams v. Town of Greenbur@35 F.3d 71, 78-79 (2d Cir. 2008phnson v. Ford
496 F. Supp. 2d 209, 213 (D. Conn. 2007) (cibayis 364 F.3d at 433)\Veinstock v. Wilk
296 F. Supp. 2d 241, 248 (D. Conn. 20B3pbable cause only exists when police officers have
“knowledge or reasonably trustworthy information of facts and cistances that are sufficient
to warrant a person of reasble caution in the belief that the person to be arrested has
committed or is committing a crimeWeyant v. Okstl01 F.3d 845, 852 (2d Cir. 1996).
Probable cause does not require a police officer to be certain that the individstaldanid be
proseated successfullyee Krause v. Benne®87 F.2d 362, 371 (2d Cir. 1989).

Probable cause is presumed when the arrest is made pursuant to a warrant iasued by
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neutral magistraté&See Walczyk v. Rid96 F.3d 139, 155-56 (2d Cir. 2007) (“Ordinarily, an
arrest or search pursuant to a warrant issued by a neutral magistrate isegdresasonable
because such warrants may issue only upon a showing of probable caugkihtiff can
overcome this presumption by demonstrating that his right not to be arrested withobtgroba
cause was violated when “the officer ‘knowingly and intentionally, or with reckless disregard
for the truth, made a false statement or omitted material information,” and where “such false
or omitted information was ‘necessary to the finding of probable cauSeares v. Connectigut

8 F.3d 917, 920 (2d Cir. 1993) (citations omitted).

The ATF defendants argue that the New London Police officers had probable cause to
arrest the plaintiff on March 3, 2011 because a vatesawvarrant had been issued by a federal
magistrate judgerlhe plaintiff concedes that an arrest warrant had been issued for his arrest on
federal criminal charge3.here are no allegations that ATF Agents Riordan, Wheeler, Turman
and Thomas, to the extent they were involved in applying for the arrest warramialyate
misled the magistrate judge to believe that probable cause exisieifs arrest on a federal
drug possession charge. In addition, there are no allegations that any of the ATFntiefenda
knew or reasonably should have known at the time of Tyusst or arraignment in March
2011, about the allegations of improper conduct by Officer Newton in the course tf afres
other individuals that had occurred on prior occasions.

In opposition to the motion to dismiSsyus contends that the affidavit filed by ATF
Agent Riordan in support of the application for the federal arrest warrant andatreomplaint
was deficient because Agent Riordan did not engage in a sufficient investigatien of

circumstances surrounding his arrest in February 2011, which was the basis fdethedeest
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warrant applicatiort.(SeeMem. Opp’n Mot. Dismiss, Doc. No. 73). Tyus did not includestno
allegations in the Amended Complaihe plaintiff may nohow amend his Amended
Complaint by asserting new allegations regarding statements that were rteglaffidavit in
support of the arrest warrant in his memorandum in opposition to the motion to diseass.
e.g, Wright v. Ernst & Young LLPL52 F.3d 169, 178 (2d Cir. 1998Yalia v. Napolitano986
F. Supp. 2d 169, 184 (E.D.N.Y. 2013)jah v. Poole506 F. Supp. 2d 174, 193 (W.D.N.Y.
2007).

Furthermore, even if the court were to perfuither amendments of the complaint to add
these allegationg,yushas not suggested that the statements in the arrest warrant affidavit were
false or misleading or that material information was omitted from the affidRatiher, he claims
that the affiant should have engaged in further investigation of the inddeiéd to his arrest
on federal drug possession charges. An arresting officer, however, is nateablig pursue
every lead or engage in extensive ffctling that may yield evidence beneficial to the accused.
See Ricciuti v. N.Y.C. Transit Authoriy?24 F.3d 123, 128 (2d Cir. 1997) (once an officer has “a
reasonable basis for believing there is probable cause, he is not required toaglkeliminate
every theoretically plausible claim of innocence before making an arrégt)se 887 F.2d at
372 (noting that an officer’s function is to apprehend those suspected of wrongddimgj to
finally determine guilthrough a weighing of evidee).

Probable cause fdryuss arrest on March 3, 2011k presumed because Officers

® Tyusattaces the Affidavit in support of the application for arrest warrant and criminal
complaint signed by ATF Agent Riordan as well as the Reports of Investigagined by ATF
Agents Riordan, Turman and Thomas to his opposition to the motions to dismisxy file=l
ATF as well as the New London defenda®eMem. Opp’n Mot. Dismiss, Doc. No. 78-1,
Exs. M, N).
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Newton, Lynch, Pelchand Marcaccio arrested him pursuant to an arrest warrant issued by a
federal magistrate judg&here are no allegations that ATF Agents Riordan, Wheeler, Turman
and Thomas intentionally or recklessly made false statements or materiabomisghe amst
warrant affidavit to overcome this presumptidiccordingly the motion to dismiss the false
arrest and malicious prosecution claims against defendants Riordan, Wheelamn &adn
Thomas is granted.
5. Transportation of Plaintiff to Federal Court

Tyusalleges that ATF Agents Riordan and Wheeler transported him to this court on
March 4, 2011for an initial hearing pursuant to his arrest on a federal arrest warrant for
narcotics violations. There are no allegations of unconstitutional conduct ieatmmwith the
transport ofTyusto federal court on March 4, 201lhus, those allegations fail to state a claim
of a violation of the plaintiff's federally or constitutionally protected rigfitse motion to
dismiss is grantedith respecto the claimthat defendants Riordan and Wheeler transported him
to federal court.
V. Conclusion

All claims against defendant Harrison and the equal protection claim agaist alets
Riordan, Wheeler, Turman and Thomas are dismissed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 19B}(@)(2
The Motion to Dismisspoc. No. 6Tis GRANTED for failure to state a claim with respéeot
the Fourteenth Amendment due process claims and the Fourth Amendment falssdrrest
malicious prosecution claims against defendants Riordan, Wheeler, Turman and Endntize
claims that defendants Riordan and Wheeler transported the plairigtferal courtThe

Motion to DismissDoc. No. 67is GRANTED for lack ofsubject matter jurisdiction with
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respect to all federalaims for monetary damages, declaratory and injunctive relief against
defendants Wheeler, Riordan, Turman and Thomas in their official capacities stradiealdw
claims.Thus, all claims against defendants Harrison, Riordan, Wheeler, Turman and Thomas
have been dismissed, and thdséendants are terminated from the case.
So ordered.
Dated at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this @iy of September 2015.
/s STEFAN R. UNDERHILL

Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge
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